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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ATLANTA DIVISION

LUKE STRAUCHMAN,
on behalf of himself and all
others similarly situated,
No.
Plaintiff,

V.

EQUIFAX, INC. : COMPLAINT - CLASS ACTION

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Luke Strauchman (“Plaintiff” or “Strauchman”) hereby brings this
class action suit pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
Plaintiff brings it against Equifax, Inc. (“Defendant” or “Equifax”) for declaratory
judgment, injunctive relief, and damages to remedy the Defendant's negligence in
allowing sensitive, personal financial data of the Plaintiff and Class Members to be
stolen by criminals whose possession of the data has injured the Plaintiff and Class
Members. The Defendant is a national consumer credit reporting agency, and the
case arises from a massive theft of personal information from Equifax. The data
belongs to the Plaintiff and Class Members.

NATURE OF THIS ACTION

1. Plaintiff brings this class action suit on his own behalf and on behalf of
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all other persons similarly situated to him to redress the Defendant’s failures to (a)
exercise reasonable care to safeguard the Plaintiff's and Class' sensitive, personal
financial data, specifically credit-card information of the Plaintiff and Class, (b)
exercise a degree of care a reasonably careful company would use in circumstances
similar to these, and (c) act reasonably to protect the Plaintiff and Class from the
consequences of its negligence in allowing personal information and credit-card data
to be stolen, possessed, and used by criminals.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. Plaintiff Luke Strauchman resides in Braselton, Georgia, and is a
citizen of Georgia (Jackson County). Plaintiff’s personal information, including
name, social security number, personal loans, and credit card numbers were
collected and stored by Equifax in Atlanta, i.e., in this District, during a period
including over the at least past four years, which are within the class period set forth
in this complaint. As a result of this data breach, Plaintiff has signed up for a credit
monitoring service with a monthly subscription fee.

3. The Defendant, upon information and belief, is a Georgia corporation
which is operated from its principal place of business in 1550 Peachtree Street NW,
H46, Atlanta, GA, 30309-2402 (Fulton County). It is a citizen of Georgia.
Defendant can be served at its registered agent Shawn Baldwin, located at 1550

Peachtree Street, N.W., Atlanta, GA, 30309-2402.
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4, Jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1332, as
amended by the “Class Action Fairness Act of 2005.” The matter in controversy
exceeds the sum of $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs; the Plaintiff and
Defendant are diverse; and there are more than 100 class members.

5. Venue lies in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a)(2), because
the Defendant resides in this District, criminals obtained the Plaintiff's personal
information in the District, utilized that information for its own benefit here, and the
wrongs alleged against the Defendant arose from those events in whole or in part.

ALLEGATIONS

6. The Defendant, to provide consumer credit reports, receives, utilizes,
and takes custody of a wide range of financial and personal information from
millions of customers. The information includes data on credit cards usage and
payment history, and how individuals honor their financial obligations such as
paying bills and repaying loans. Because it failed to act reasonably to safeguard the
information, more than one hundred forty-three (143) million consumers have had
their personal financial information compromised and stolen, including Class
Members’ names, Social Security numbers, birth dates, addresses, and even some
driver’s license numbers. The thieves also got credit card numbers for approximately
209,000 people and dispute documents with personal information for 182,000

consumers. The customers include the Plaintiff, and they constitute the Class he
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seeks to represent. The Plaintiff and the Class have had their privacy rights violated,
have been exposed to the risk of fraud and identity theft, and have otherwise suffered
damages. Equifax’s negligence is to blame.

7. The Defendant is one of the largest and the oldest consumer credit
reporting agency in the country. Defendant is headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia,
where the events of the case arose in whole or in part.

8. On September 7, 2017, the Defendant first revealed a massive security
breach by which thieves stole from the Defendant the above-described personal data
of the Plaintiff and the Class. The theft was preventable by means reasonable to the
Defendant, but it failed to utilize them. It occurred in between May to July of 2017,
according to Equifax. That ending date is unconfirmed, and in fact, the extent and
duration of the theft may be greater than the Defendant has revealed.

9. Upon information and belief, 143 million persons are customers of the
Defendant whose data has been stolen, harming them. That is the Class asserted
here.

10. Upon information and belief, Equifax knew of the theft long before
revealing it, and it failed to take steps in the interim to notify the Class to enable
each Class member to act to protect themselves from further injury from the theft.

11.  Upon information and belief, Equifax has failed to (a) act with

reasonable speed to warn the Class of the harm of the theft, (b) contact all customers
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whose data has been stolen to inform them when it was stolen and what was stolen,
steps which would be reasonable in the circumstances, and (c) inform Class
members of the precise nature of the theft, leaving the Plaintiff and the Class to guess
at what data of theirs has been stolen and/or utilized in fraudulent transactions or for
unjust purposes.

12.  As a consequence of the foregoing failures by the Defendant, the
Plaintiff and the Class are unable to take reasonable steps to mitigate their loss and
to safeguard themselves from further harm.

13. Consumers, like Plaintiff, should not have to bear the expense of a
credit monitoring service caused by Equifax’s negligent failure to protect their credit
and personal information from criminals.

14. Equifax, at all times relevant to this lawsuit, has been required to abide
by stringent rules for the protection of customer data. The rules cover storing and
collecting consumer personal information. They require information brokers to
install and maintain security measures to prevent the theft of customer data,
including but not limited to the use of firewalls to protect databases and other steps
to ensure that information in the its custody is not unreasonably exposed to the risk
of theft.

15.  The Defendant breached its duty to ensure that personal information in

its custody was not unreasonably exposed to the risk of theft and utilization in
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fraudulent transactions. Upon information and belief, a lack of adequate security in
the Defendant’s information technology systems enabled the theft, or made it much
more likely. Specifically, the Defendant failed to thwart, timely detect, and report
the security flaw which the thieves used to steal the data at issue. Upon information
and belief, these failures would have been prevented had Equifax (a) abided by the
above-described rules for the prevention of theft of customer data, or (b) adhered to
best practices and industry standards concerning the security of its computer systems,
payment processing systems, and information technology systems.

16.  As aresult of that breach, thieves have taken and utilized data from the
Plaintiff's and the Class Members’ personal information, including but not limited
to account information, birthdates, social security numbers, credit card numbers,
loan numbers, residence and work information, and the Plaintiff and Class will have
to (and have already begun to) expend time, energy, and expense to mitigate the
consequences of the theft, including, but not limited to, by purchasing credit reports
and enrolling in credit monitoring and/or identity theft protection. They have
experienced and will continue to experience uncertainty in connection with their
credit and banking accounts, a material detriment to them, and they have suffered
consequential emotional distress and mental anguish. Their credit and banking
accounts are an increased risk of theft and unauthorized use in the future.

17.  During the time period that his data and the Class Members’ data are
6
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known to have been breached, Plaintiff had personal and credit information collected
and stored by Equifax, including his social security number, birth date, home address,
driver’s license information, and credit card numbers.

18.  On September 7, 2017, Plaintiff became aware of the security breach
from an announcement by Equifax, which was picked up by various news
organizations worldwide.

19. According to the news, an Equifax website admits that “Equifax
discovered the unauthorized access on July 29,” almost six weeks prior to any public
announcement.

20. In addition, the website allows individuals to check whether their
personal information has been potentially impacted by entering their last name and
the last six digits of their Social Security Number. Available at

https://www.equifaxsecurity2017.com/potential-impact/ However, the impact

checker appears inconsistent http://www.zdnet.com/article/we-tested-equifax-data-

breach-checker-it-is-basically-useless/, and it also appears to be set up as a shill to

force consumers into arbitration. Available at

http://www.chicagotribune.com/q00/business/ct-equifax-data-breach-website-

arbitration-20170908-story.html?i10c.referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.

gooqgle.com%?2F.

21. Equifax has failed to provide Plaintiff, and those in the Class, sufficient
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information to identify the extent of the data breach. Equifax also failed to properly
and timely alert the Plaintiff and Class to known data breaches. Equifax admits, by
its own calculation, that it waited over a month to begin notifying the Plaintiff and
Class and such delay harmed Plaintiff and the Class.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

22.  Plaintiff brings this suit for himself and as a class action for all others
similarly situated, namely all persons who had their personal information and data
stolen from Equifax in the class period. Plaintiff brings the suit under Rules 23,
23(a), 23(b)(2), and 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of
the following Class for the following period of time:

a. All customers of Defendant whose personal financial data, including
but not limited to personal information and credit card information,
was (i) stored and collected by Equifax, and (ii) was subsequently
hacked.

b. Class members shall not include the following persons or entities:

I. Defendant's officers, directors, agents, or employees;

ii. U.S. District Court judges, magistrate judges of any U.S.
District Court, judges of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Eleventh Circuit, and U.S. District Court personnel having

any involvement with administration and/or adjudication of
8



Case 1:17-cv-03482-TCB Document 1 Filed 09/11/17 Page 9 of 23

this lawsuit; and
ii. Class counsel and their employees.

23.  The Class period begins April, 2017, and ends September 7, 2017.

24.  Membership in the Class is so numerous as to make it impractical to
bring all Class members before the Court. The identity and exact number of Class
members is unknown at this time, but the number is reasonably estimated to exceed
one million persons.

25. The Defendant’s negligence affects all Class members in exactly the
same way, even though the degrees of harm suffered by individual Class members
may vary. The Defendant’s conduct in failing to properly safeguard its customers’
personal financial data and in failing to fully and effectively notify customers of the
dates and precise nature of the theft of the data in a timely manner is uniform among
the Class.

26.  Questions of law and fact common to all Class members predominate
over any questions affecting only individual members. Such questions of law and
fact common to the Class include:

a. whether Defendant acted wrongfully by failing to properly
safeguard its customers' financial data;
b. whether Defendant failed to fully and effectively notify customers

of the dates and precise nature of the theft of the data in a timely
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manner;
c. whether Plaintiff and the Class have been damaged, and, if so, what
Is the appropriate relief as to each member of the Class; and
d. whether Defendant is due to be enjoined to fully and effectively
report to the Class and its members individually the actual and
precise nature of the theft of the data, to enable Class members to
take reasonable and effective steps to protect themselves from
further harm.

27. The Plaintiff’s claims, as described herein, are typical of the claims of
all Class members, as the claims of Plaintiff and all Class members arise from the
same set of facts regarding Defendant's failure to protect Class members’ financial
data. Plaintiff maintains no interest antagonistic to interests of other Class members.

28.  Plaintiff is committed to the vigorous prosecution of this action and has
retained competent counsel experienced in the prosecution of class actions of this
type. Accordingly, Plaintiff is an adequate representatives of the Class and will
fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.

29. This class action is a fair and efficient method of adjudicating the
claims of Plaintiff and the Class for the following reasons:

a. common questions of law and fact predominate over any question

affecting any individual Class member;
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30.

b. the prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the

Class would likely create a risk of inconsistent or varying
adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class
thereby establishing incompatible standards of conduct for
Defendant or would allow some Class members' claims to adversely

affect other Class members' ability to protect their interests;

. Plaintiff is not aware of any other litigation of these issues ongoing

in this State or elsewhere brought by a Nationwide class of

consumers in Equifax’s database;

. this forum is appropriate for litigation of this action since the cause

of action arose in this District;

. Plaintiff anticipates no difficulty in the management of this litigation

as a class action; and

. the Class is readily definable, and prosecution as a class action will

eliminate the possibility of repetitious litigation, while also
providing redress for claims that may be too small to support the

expense of individual, complex litigation.

. the Defendant has acted in a similar manner with respect to the

Plaintiff and the Class as a whole making injunctive relief proper.

For these reasons, a class action is superior to other available methods
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for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy.

COUNT I: NEGLIGENCE (ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF AND A
NATIONWIDE CLASS)

31. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges the allegations contained in the
foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

32. The Defendant had a duty to use reasonable care to protect the personal
information and of the Class from theft. By its acts and omissions described herein,
the Defendant unlawfully breached this duty. The Class was damaged thereby.

33.  The private personal information of the Class that was compromised by
the breach of Defendant’s security included, without limitation, information that was
improperly stored and inadequately safeguarded in violation of industry rules and
regulations and best practices. Those rules, regulations, and best practices created a
standard of care that the Defendant breached.

34. The breach of security was a direct and proximate result of Defendant's
failure to use reasonable care to implement and maintain appropriate security
procedures reasonably designed to protect the personal information and other
nonpublic information of the Class. This breach of security and unauthorized access
to the private nonpublic information of the Class was reasonably foreseeable.

35.  Upon information and belief, this is third known data breach involving

Equifax in the last two years. According to USA Today, “Hackers in 2016 stole
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federal W-2 tax information from an Equifax website. Identity thieves earlier this
year also stole W-2 tax information from an Equifax subsidiary, TALX, which
provides online payroll services.”  https://www.usatoday.com/story/money/
2017/09/08/massive-equifax-cyberattack-triggers-class-action-lawsuit/645632001/

36. Defendant was in a special fiduciary relationship with the Class by
reason of its entrustment with credit and personal information and other nonpublic
information. By reason of this fiduciary relationship, Defendant had a duty of care
to use reasonable means to keep the personal information and other nonpublic
information of the Class private and secure.

37. Defendant also had a duty to fully inform Class members in a timely
manner that their credit and personal information and other nonpublic information
has been stolen. If has failed to do, breaching its duty.

38.  The theft of the Class' nonpublic information, and the resulting burden,
fear, anxiety, emotional distress, and loss of time endured by Class members in
efforts to prevent or undo any further harm -- along with other economic and non-
economic damages to the Class -- were the direct and proximate result of
Defendant’s negligence.

39. Defendant had a duty to fully and timely disclose the theft to every
person whose personal information was stolen, to enable each affected customer to

take appropriate measures to avoid unauthorized charges on their accounts, to cancel
13
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or change account numbers on the compromised cards, and to and monitor their
account information and credit reports for fraudulent charges. Defendant has failed
to do so, and it evidently refuses to do so, breaching its duty and warranting
declaratory and injunctive relief.

37. As adirect and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, the Plaintiff
and the Class have been damaged. Upon information and belief, the damages
include, but are not limited to, loss of control of personal financial information;
monetary loss for fraudulent and/or unauthorized charges on accounts; fear and
apprehension of fraud; expenses or loss of money; identity theft; the burden and cost
of credit monitoring to monitor accounts and credit history; the burden and cost of
closing compromised accounts and opening new accounts; the burden of closely
scrutinizing credit card statements for past and future transactions; damage to credit
history; loss of privacy; and other economic damages.

COUNT I1I: VIOLATION OF GEORIGIA’S DATA BREACH

NOTIFICATION STATUTES (ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFE AND A
NATIONWIDE CLASS)

40. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges the allegations contained in the
foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

41. The Equifax data breach constitutes a breach of Defendant’s computer
security systems within the meaning of Georgia’s state data breach notifications

statute O.C.G.A. 8 10-1-910, et seq., and the data accessed in the breach was
14
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protected and covered by the statute.

42. Defendant unreasonably delayed notification of the data breach,
including the unauthorized access and theft, after Defendant knew or should have
known that the data breach had occurred.

43.  On information and belief, although Defendant was aware of the data
breach in July 2017 or earlier, Defendant did not disclose or notify the public or
Equifax members of the data breach until after it was publicly announced by the
hackers and referenced in on-line media on September 8, 2017.

44. Defendant failed to inform the public of the data breach during this time
even though Defendant knew or should have known of its occurrence and the
attendant unauthorized access, theft and dissemination of the Plaintiff and Class
Members’ personal information.

45.  On or around September 8, 2017, Defendant began to make public
statements regarding the data breach, all as set forth above. Further, although
Defendant was in possession of the email addresses of the Plaintiff and Class
Members, Defendant has failed to provide direct notice to the Plaintiff and Class
Members that the data breach had occurred and, on information and belief, have
never done so.

46. Defendant failed to disclose to Plaintiff and Class Members, without

unreasonable delay and in the most expedient time possible, the breach and the
15
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unauthorized access and theft of Plaintiff and Class Members’ personal information
when Defendant knew, should have known, or reasonably believed that such
information had been compromised. On information and belief, no law enforcement
agency instructed Defendant to withhold notification and disclosure of the Data
Breach.

47.  Asaresult of Defendant’s failure to notify in the statutorily prescribed
time periods, Plaintiff and the Class Members suffered the harm alleged above.

48. Had Defendant provided timely and accurate notice, Plaintiffs and
Class Members could have taken steps to mitigate the direct harm suffered as a result
of Defendant’s unreasonable and untimely delay in providing notice.

49. Defendant’s failure to notify Plaintiffs and the other Class Members
violated Georgia’s state data breach notification statute O.C.G.A. § 10-1-910, et seq.

50. Plaintiff and Class Members seek all remedies available, including but
not limited to damages as alleged above, equitable relief, injunctive relief and

reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs, as provided by law.

COUNT THREE: WILLFUL VIOLATION OF THE FAIR CREDIT
REPORTING ACT (ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFE AND A NATIONWIDE

CLASS)

51. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges the allegations contained in the

foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

16
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52. A “consumer reporting agency” is defined by the FCRA as follows:

[A]lny person which, for monetary fees, dues, or on a cooperative
nonprofit basis, regularly engages in whole or in part in the practice of
assembling or evaluating consumer credit information or other
information on consumers for the purpose of furnishing consumer
reports to third parties, and which uses any means or facility of
interstate commerce for the purpose of preparing or furnishing
consumer reports. 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f).

53. Equifax is a “consumer reporting agency” as defined by the FCRA.

54.  Plaintiffs and Class member are “consumers’ entitled to the protections
of the FCRA. 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1681a(c).

55. Section 604 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. 81681b, prohibits consumer
reporting agencies from furnishing consumer reports to third parties except for
certain enumerated “permissible purposes.”

56. A “consumer reports” is defined in section 603(d) of the FCRA, 15
U.S.C. § 1681 a(d), as

any written, oral, or other communication of any information by a
consumer reporting agency bearing on a consumer's credit worthiness,
credit standing, credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal
characteristics, or mode of living which is used or expected to be used
or collected in whole or in part for the purpose of serving as a factor in
establishing the consumer's eligibility for (A) credit or insurance to be
used primarily for personal, family, or household purposes; (B)
employment purposes; or (C) any other purpose authorized under
section 604.

57.  None of the purposes listed under 15 U.S.C. § 1681b permit credit

reporting agencies to furnish consumer reports to unauthorized or unknown entities,
17



Case 1:17-cv-03482-TCB Document 1 Filed 09/11/17 Page 18 of 23

and thus, by and through the events described above, Equifax has violated 15 U.S.C.
§ 1681b.

58.  Upon information and belief, this is third known data breach involving
Equifax in the last two years. According to USA Today, “Hackers in 2016 stole
federal W-2 tax information from an Equifax website. Identity thieves earlier this
year also stole W-2 tax information from an Equifax subsidiary, TALX, which
provides online payroll services.”  https://www.usatoday.com/story/money/
2017/09/08/massive-equifax-cyberattack-triggers-class-action-lawsuit/645632001/

59. Equifax willfully and/or recklessly violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681b by its
failure to implement and maintain appropriate security procedures reasonably
designed to protect the credit and personal information and other nonpublic
information of the Plaintiff and the Class Members.

60. Plaintiff and the Georgia Class members have been damaged by
Equifax’s willful or reckless failure to comply with the FCRA. Therefore, Plaintiff
and the Nationwide Class members are entitled to recover “any actual damages
sustained by the consumer . . . or damages of not less than $100 and not more than
$1,000.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(1)(A).

61. Plaintiffs and the Nationwide Class members are also entitled to
punitive damages, costs of the action, and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 15 U.S.C. §

1681n(a)(2) & (3).
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COUNT FOUR: NEGLIGENT VIOLATION OF THE FAIR CREDIT
REPORTING ACT (ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF AND A NATIONWIDE

CLASS)

62. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges the allegations contained in the

foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

63. Equifax was negligent in failing to maintain reasonable procedures
designed to limit the unauthorized furnishing of consumer reports to the purposes
outlined above and under section 1681b of the FCRA.

64. Equifax’s negligent conduct provided a means for unauthorized
intruders to obtain Plaintiff’s and the Nationwide Class members’ personal
information for no permissible purpose under the FCRA.

65. Plaintiffs and the Nationwide Class member have been damaged by
Equifax’s negligent failure to comply with the FCRA. Therefore, Plaintiffs and each
of the Nationwide Class member are entitled to recover “any actual damages
sustained by the consumer.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681o(a)(1).

66. Plaintiffs and the Nationwide Class member are also entitled to recover
their costs of the action, as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees. 15 U.S.C. §
16810(a)(2).

COUNT FIVE: VIOLATION OF GEORGIA FAIR BUSINESS
PRACTICES ACT O.C.G.A. 8§ 10-1-390, ET SEQ. (ON BEHALF OF

PLAINTIFFS AND THE NATIONWIDE CLASS)

67. Plaintiffs restate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 65 as if fully set
19
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forth herein.

68. Equifax has violated O.C.G.A. § 10-1-390 et seq. by engaging in
unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business acts and practices and unfair, deceptive,
untrue or misleading advertising that constitute acts of “unfair competition” as
defined in O.C.G.A. 8 10-1-390 with respect to the credit reporting services provided
to Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class.

69. Equifax engaged in unlawful acts and practices with respect to its
services by establishing the sub-standard security practices and procedures described
herein; by soliciting and collecting Plaintiff’s and Class Members’ personal
information with knowledge that the information was not be adequately protected;
and by storing Plaintiff’s and Class Members’ personal information in an unsecure
electronic environment.

70. Inaddition, Equifax engaged in unlawful acts and practices with respect
to the its services by failing to discover and then disclose the data breach to Plaintiff
and Class Members. in a timely and accurate manner, contrary to the duties imposed
by O.C.G.A. 8 10-1-910. To date, Equifax has still not provided such sufficient
information to Plaintiff and Class Members.

71.  As a direct and proximate result of Equifax’s unlawful practices and
acts, Plaintiff and Class Members were injured and lost money or property, including

but not limited to the fees received by Equifax for the credit reporting services, the
20
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loss of their legally protected interest in the confidentiality and privacy of their
personal information, and additional losses described above.

72.  Equifax knew or should have known that its computer systems and data
security practices were inadequate to safeguard Plaintiff and Class Members’
personal information and that the risk of a data breach or theft was highly likely.
Equifax’s actions in engaging in the abovenamed unlawful practices and acts were
negligent, knowing and willful, and/or wanton and reckless with respect to the rights
of Class Members.

73.  Plaintiff and Class Members seek relief under O.C.G.A. § 10-1-390, et.
seq., including, but not limited to, restitution to Plaintiff and Class Members of
money or property that Equifax may have acquired by means of its unlawful, and
unfair business practices, restitutionary disgorgement of all profits accruing to
Equifax because of its unlawful and unfair business practices, declaratory relief,

attorney’s fees and costs, and injunctive or other equitable relief.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, for himself and on behalf of all others similarly
situated, respectfully requests the following relief:
a. certification of this lawsuit as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule

of Civil Procedure 23(a), (b)(2), and (b)(3), and appointment of
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Plaintiff and his counsel to represent the Class;

b. afinal judgment against the Defendant on the claims alleged herein;

c. an injunction requiring the Defendant to promptly, fully, and
effectively inform each Class member of the date and precise nature
of the theft of the Class member's data;

d. aninjunction requiring Defendant to update its systems and policies
in a manner that will reasonably prevent this type of harm in the
future;

e. an award to the Plaintiff and Class of attorneys' fees, expenses, and
costs of this suit;

f. such other and further relief that is just and appropriate.

PLAINTIFF DEMANDS TRIAL BY STRUCK JURY

ON ALL ISSUES IN THIS CAUSE

22
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Local Rule 7.1 Compliance Certificate

Pursuant to L.R. 7.1.D, this certifies that the foregoing document complies
with the font and point selections approved by L.R. 5.1.C. The foregoing document

was prepared using Times New Roman font in 14 point.

Filed this the 11" day of September, 2017.

/s/ James F. McDonough, 111

James F. McDonough, I11 (GA Bar #: 117088)
Travis E. Lynch (GA Bar # 162373)
Heninger Garrison Davis, LLC.
3621 Vinings Slope

Suite 4320

Atlanta, GA 30339

P: (404) 996-0860

F: (205) 380-8076
JMcdonough@hgdlawfirm.com
tlynch@hgdlawfirm.com

W. Lewis Garrison (GA Bar #: 286815)
Chris B. Hood, PHV forthcoming
Heninger Garrison Davis, LLC.

2224 First Avenue North

Birmingham, AL 35203

P: (205) 326-3336

F: (205) 380-8085
Lewis@hgdlawfirm.com
chood@hgdlawfirm.com

DEFENDANT MAY BE SERVED AT THIS ADDRESS:

EQUIFAX, INC.
1550 Peachtree Street, N.W.,
Atlanta, GA, 30309-2402
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NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF
LAND INVOLVED

(C) ATTORNEYS (FIRM NAME, ADDRESS, TELEPHONE NUMBER, AND ATTORN EYS (IF KNOWN)
E-MAIL ADDRESS)
James F. McDonough, llI
3621 Vinings Slope, Suite 4320
Atlanta, GA 30339
jmcdonough@hgdlawfirm.com
404-996-0869

(PLACE AN “X” IN ONE BOX ONLY) (PLACE AN “X” IN ONE BOX FOR PLAINTIFF AND ONE BOX FOR DEFENDANT)
(FOR DIVERSITY CASES ONLY)
PLF DEF PLF DEF
1 U.S. GOVERNMENT 3 FEDERAL QUESTION 1 I:l 1 CITIZEN OF THIS STATE I:l 4 4 INCORPORATED OR PRINCIPAL
PLAINTIFF (U.S. GOVERNMENT NOT A PARTY) PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THIS STATE
2 U.S. GOVERNMENT 4 DIVERSITY 2 2 CITIZEN OF ANOTHER 5 5 INCORPORATED AND PRINCIPAL
DEFENDANT (INDICATE CITIZENSHIP OF PARTIES STATE PLACE OF BUSINESS IN ANOTHER
IN ITEM 111) STATE
3 3 CITIZEN OR SUBJECT OF
A FOREIGN COUNTRY De I:I 6 FOREIGN NATION
1V. ORIGIN (PLACE AN “X “IN ONE BOX ONLY)
TRANSFERRED FROM APPEAL TO DISTRICT JUDGE
1 ORIGINAL 2 REMOVED FROM 3 REMANDED FROM 4 REINSTATED OR 5 ANOTHER DISTRICT 6 MULTIDISTRICT 7 FROM MAGISTRATE JUDGE
PROCEEDING STATE COURT APPELLATE COURT I:l REOPENED |:| (Specify District) |:| LITIGATION |:| JUDGMENT

V. CAUSE O F ACTI ON (CITETHE U.S. CIVIL STATUTE UNDER WHICH YQU ARE FILING AND WRITE A BRIEF STATEMENT OF CAUSE - DO NOT CITE
JURISDICTIONAL STATUTES UNLESS DIVERSITY)

Negligence, 15 U.S.C. 1681b, O.C.G.A. 10-1-390

(IF COMPLEX, CHECK REASON BELOW)

1. Unusually large number of parties. I:l 6. Problems locating or preserving evidence

I:l 2. Unusually large number of claims or defenses. I:l 7. Pending parallel investigations or actions by government.
I:l 3. Factual issues are exceptionally complex I:l 8. Multiple use of experts.

I:l 4. Greater than normal volume of evidence. I:l 9. Need for discovery outside United States boundaries.
|:| 5. Extended discovery period is needed. |:| 10. Existence of highly technical issues and proof.

CONTINUED ON REVERSE

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

RECEIPT # AMOUNT $ APPLYING IFP MAG. JUDGE (IFP)

JUDGE MAG. JUDGE NATURE OF SUIT CAUSE OF ACTION
(Referral)




VI. NATURE OR&EI¥ %0318 bR  Document 1-1  Filed 09/11/17  Page 2 of 2

CONTRACT -"0" MONTHSDISCOVERY TRACK’
CJ150 RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENT &
ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENT
[1152 RECOVERY OF DEFAULTED STUDENT
LOANS (Excl. Veterans)
1153 RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENT OF
VETERAN'SBENEFITS

CONTRACT -"4" MONTHSDISCOVERY TRACK
110 INSURANCE
CJ120 MARINE
CJ130MILLER ACT
[J140 NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENT
151 MEDICARE ACT
1160 STOCKHOLDERS SUITS
[J190 OTHER CONTRACT
1195 CONTRACT PRODUCT LIABILITY
1196 FRANCHISE

REAL PROPERTY -"4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

1210 LAND CONDEMNATION

1220 FORECLOSURE

230 RENT LEASE & EJECTMENT

240 TORTSTO LAND

1245 TORT PRODUCT LIABILITY

[J290ALL OTHER REAL PROPERTY

TORTS- PERSONAL INJURY -"4" MONTHS
DISCOVERY TRACK
1310 AIRPLANE
1315 AIRPLANE PRODUCT LIABILITY
320 ASSAULT, LIBEL & SLANDER
1330 FEDERAL EMPLOYERS LIABILITY
1340 MARINE
345 MARINE PRODUCT LIABILITY
1350 MOTOR VEHICLE
1355 MOTOR VEHICLE PRODUCT LIABILITY
[1360 OTHER PERSONAL INJURY
[1362 PERSONAL INJURY - MEDICAL
MALPRACTICE
1365 PERSONAL INJURY - PRODUCT LIABILITY
[1367 PERSONAL INJURY - HEALTH CARE/
PHARMACEUTICAL PRODUCT LIABILITY
1368 ASBESTOS PERSONAL INJURY PRODUCT
LIABILITY

TORTS- PERSONAL PROPERTY -"4" MONTHS
DISCOVERY TRACK
1370 OTHER FRAUD
371 TRUTH IN LENDING
3380 OTHER PERSONAL PROPERTY DAMAGE
1385 PROPERTY DAMAGE PRODUCT LIABILITY

BANKRUPTCY -"0" MONTHSDISCOVERY TRACK

422 APPEAL 28 USC 158
CJ423 WITHDRAWAL 28 USC 157

CIVIL RIGHTS-"4" MONTHSDISCOVERY TRACK

SOCIAL SECURITY -"0" MONTHS DISCOVERY

[ 441 VOTING

[ 442EMPLOYMENT

[] 443 HOUSING/ ACCOMMODATIONS

[] 444 WELFARE

[ 440 OTHER CIVIL RIGHTS

[ 445 AMERICANS with DISABILITIES- Employment
[ 446 AMERICANS with DISABILITIES - Other

[ 448 EDUCATION

IMMIGRATION -"0" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

TRACK
[ 861 HIA (1395ff)
[ 862 BLACK LUNG (923)
1 863 DIWC (405(g))
[ 863 DIWW (405(g))
[1864SSID TITLE XVI
1 865 RSI (405())

FEDERAL TAX SUITS-"4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

[ 462 NATURALIZATION APPLICATION
[ 463 HABEAS CORPUS- Alien Detainee
[ 465 OTHER IMMIGRATION ACTIONS

PRISONER PETITIONS-"0" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

1510 MOTIONSTO VACATE SENTENCE

1530 HABEAS CORPUS

] 535 HABEAS CORPUS DEATH PENALTY

1 540 MANDAMUS & OTHER

1550 CIVIL RIGHTS- Filed Prose

[ 555 PRISON CONDITION(S) - Filed Pro se

1560 CIVIL DETAINEE: CONDITIONS OF

CONFINEMENT

PRISONER PETITIONS-"4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

1550 CIVIL RIGHTS - Filed by Counsel

[ 555 PRISON CONDITION(S) - Filed by Counsel

FORFEITURE/PENALTY -"4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK
[ 625 DRUG RELATED SEIZURE OF PROPERTY
21 USC 881
1690 OTHER

LABOR -"4" MONTHSDISCOVERY TRACK
1 710 FAIR LABOR STANDARDSACT
[ 720 LABOR/MGMT. RELATIONS
[ 740 RAILWAY LABOR ACT
1 751 FAMILY and MEDICAL LEAVE ACT
1790 OTHER LABOR LITIGATION
[J 791 EMPL. RET. INC. SECURITY ACT

PROPERTY RIGHTS-"4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

1820 COPYRIGHTS

[ 840 TRADEMARK

PROPERTY RIGHTS-"8" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK
[ 830 PATENT

[ 870 TAXES (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant)
[ 871 IRS- THIRD PARTY 26 USC 7609

OTHER STATUTES-"4" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK
[ 375 FALSE CLAIMSACT
[J 400 STATE REAPPORTIONMENT
[ 430 BANK SAND BANKING
[ 450 COMMERCE/ICC RATESETC.
[ 460 DEPORTATION
[ 470 RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT
ORGANIZATIONS
[ 480 CONSUMER CREDIT
[ 490 CABLE/SATELLITE TV
[ 891 AGRICULTURAL ACTS
[ 893 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
[ 895 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT
[ 950 CONSTITUTIONALITY OF STATE STATUTES
[ 890 OTHER STATUTORY ACTIONS
[ 899 ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURESACT /
REVIEW OR APPEAL OF AGENCY DECISION

OTHER STATUTES-"8" MONTHS DISCOVERY
TRACK

[J 410 ANTITRUST

[ 850 SECURITIES/ COMMODITIES/ EXCHANGE

OTHER STATUTES-“0" MONTHSDISCOVERY
TRACK
189 ARBITRATION
(Confirm / Vacate/ Order / Modify)

* PLEASE NOTE DISCOVERY
TRACK FOR EACH CASE TYPE.
SEE LOCAL RULE 26.3

VIl. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:

CHECK IF CLASS ACTION UNDER F.R.Civ.P. 23

DEMAND $

JURY DEMANDYES I:l NO (CHECK YES ONLY IF DEMANDED IN COMPLAINT)

VIIl. RELATED/REFILED CASE(S) IF ANY

JUDGE Duffey

DOCKET NO. 1:17-cv-3422

CIVIL CASES ARE DEEMED RELATED IF THE PENDING CASE INVOLVES: (CHECK APPROPRIATE BOX)
D 1. PROPERTY INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.
2. SAME ISSUE OF FACT OR ARISES OUT OF THE SAME EVENT OR TRANSACTION INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.

s

VALIDITY OR INFRINGEMENT OF THE SAME PATENT, COPYRIGHT OR TRADEMARK INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.

D 4. APPEALS ARISING OUT OF THE SAME BANKRUPTCY CASE AND ANY CASE RELATED THERETO WHICH HAVE BEEN DECIDED BY THE SAME

BANKRUPTCY JUDGE.

O

D 7. EITHER SAME OR ALL OF THE PARTIES AND ISSUES IN THIS CASE WERE PREVIOUSLY INVOLVED IN CASE NO.

D 5. REPETITIVE CASES FILED BY PRO SE LITIGANTS.
6. COMPANION OR RELATED CASE TO CASE(S) BEING SIMULTANEOUSLY FILED (INCLUDE ABBREVIATED STYLE OF OTHER CASE(S)):

DISMISSED. This case[__]1S [_] IS NOT (check one box) SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME CASE.

, WHICH WAS

SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD

DATE



